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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This case involves an appeal from a judgment rendered by the United States District 

Court for the District of New Union regarding a law of the United States, the Clean Water Act 

(CWA), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq. (2006). (R. at 1.) Federal district courts have original 

jurisdiction over all civil matters arising under the laws of the United States. 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(2006). The district court had proper subject matter jurisdiction as the issues pertain to the CWA. 

(R. at 1.)  The United States District Court for the District of New Union’s decision was final; 

therefore, the United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has the authority to hear the 

appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) has standing to sue Jim Bob Bowman 

(Bowman) under the citizen suit provision of the CWA when NUWF’s members attest 

that they have suffered injuries by Bowman’s pollution of the Muddy River? 

 

II. Whether Bowman’s bulldozing, dredging, ditching and filling nearly 998 acres of 

wetlands is a continuing or ongoing violation under § 505(a) of the CWA when he has in 

no way remedied his harm by restoring the wetlands?  

 

III. Whether NUWF’s citizen suit is barred by § 505(b) of the CWA because New Union 

Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) has diligently prosecuted Bowman 

when after Bowman’s actions NUDEP entered a cooperative agreement with Bowman, 

issued no penalties, and did not require Bowman to restore his wetlands? 

 

IV. Whether Bowman violated §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA by adding pollutants to a 

wetland without a § 404 permit when he bulldozed, dredged, and ditched 998 acres of his 

1000 acres of wetland trees and vegetation, and he subsequently burned the material and 

used it to fill the space, creating a field for winter wheat  planting? 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 NUWF and Bowman filed cross motions for summary judgment. (R. at 3-4.) On June 1, 

2012, the district court granted Bowman’s motions and denied NUWF’s motions. (R. at 11.) The 

court held that: (1) NUWF lacked standing; (2) the district court lacked subject matter 
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jurisdiction because the violations were wholly in the past; (3) the district court lacked subject 

matter jurisdiction because of the prior state action; and (4) there was no violation of the CWA. 

(R. at 11.) 

 NUWF and NUDEP each filed a notice of appeal. (R. at 1.) NUWF appeals the district 

court’s holding that: (1) it lacked standing; (2) there was no continuing violation by Bowman; (3) 

NUDEP’s actions constituted diligent prosecution barring its suit; and (4) Bowman did not 

violate § 404 of the CWA because he did not discharge dredged or fill material into his wetlands. 

(R. at 1.) NUDEP only appeals the decision that: (1) NUWF lacked standing; and (2) Bowman 

did not violate § 404 of the CWA. (R. at 1.) This Court granted review on September 14, 2012. 

(R. at 2.) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Jim Bob Bowman owns 1,000 acres of wooded or previously wooded land adjacent to the 

Muddy River in the State of New Union, all of which has been classified as wetlands as 

determined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers’ Wetland Delineation Manual. (R. at 3, 4.) The 

parties have agreed to this determination. (R. at 4.) The Muddy River is commonly used for 

recreational purposes miles upstream and downstream from Bowman’s property. (R. at 4.)  

Bowman’s property includes 650 of shoreline along the Muddy River. (R. at 3.) 

 On June 15, 2011, Bowman began destroying the wetlands on his property. (R. at 4.) 

Using bulldozers, he ripped trees from the ground, uprooted and plowed through other 

vegetation, and finally pushed all of the vegetation into windrows and set them ablaze. (R. at 4.) 

After he had burned all of it, he used the bulldozer to create trenches and to push what was left of 

the vegetation along with the ashes into them, incorporating and adding all of the vegetative 

matter which was once on top of the soil into the soil. (R. at 4.) He then proceeded to level the 
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wetland, “pushing soil from high portions of the field into the trenches and low lying portions of 

the field.” (R. at 4.) Lastly, he created a wide ditch to drain his newly created “field” into the 

Muddy River. (R. at 4.) Out of the entirety of his property, the only part left unscathed by his 

bulldozer is a 150 foot wide swath by the river, and this is only because it was too difficult to 

clear. (R. at 4.) In all, Bowman destroyed and cleared 99.776 percent of the wetlands on his 

property, or a total of 997.76 acres. (R. at 4.) Bowman completed all of these activities on or 

around July 15
, 
2011. (R. at 4.) 

 NUWF is a not for profit corporation organized under the laws of New Union, whose 

purpose is to protect the fish and wildlife of the state and their habitat. (R. at 4.) Three members 

of NUWF, Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless, have submitted affidavits with their 

testimony. (R. at 6.) All three of them have testified that they regularly use the Muddy River for 

recreational purposes such as boating and fishing or picnicking on the banks. (R. at 6.) They also 

testified to knowing the important role that wetlands serve in the environment, and fear that the 

river will become much more polluted after Bowman illegally destroyed nearly 1,000 acres of 

wetlands on his property. (R. at 6.) Milford testified that “the Muddy looks more polluted to her 

than it did prior to Bowman’s activities.” (R. at 6.) Norton testified that he has hunted for frogs 

in the area for years with great success, but after Bowman’s illegal clearing of the wetlands, 

“there are no frogs in the drained field and he is lucky to find two or three good sized frogs in the 

remaining woods and buffer area.” (R. at 6.) Norton is not certain if he was trespassing onto 

Bowman’s property during his frogging activities. (R. at 6.) 

 NUWF filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of New Union 

against Bowman seeking review under § 505 of the CWA, the citizen’s suit provision. (R. at 3.) 

NUWF stated that Bowman violated the CWA by filling his wetlands without a CWA § 404 
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permit. (R. at 3.)  NUDEP, the department delegated authority by the EPA to implement the 

CWA, intervened in the action. (R. at 3-4.)  

 Prior to the complaint being filed, NUWF and NUDEP had taken several actions towards 

Bowman. On July 1, 2011, NUWF sent Bowman notice of intent to file suit. (R. at 4.) “[S]hortly 

thereafter,” NUDEP contacted Bowman, told him he had violated state and federal law by 

clearing his wetlands, and Bowman agreed to enter a consent agreement stating he would not 

clear any more wetlands and that he would convey a conservation easement of a 75 foot buffer 

zone between the 150 feet of remaining wetland and the newly created field. (R. at 4.) On this 

buffer zone, he agreed to create a new wetland. (R. at 4.) Bowman consented to this agreement 

on August 1, 2011. (R. at 4.) The agreement was written into an administrative order, and 

although NUDEP was authorized to issue up to 150,000 dollars in civil penalties, they issued 

none. (R. at 4.)  

 Despite the order, on August, 10, 2011, NUDEP chose to file a complaint in federal court 

against Bowman. (R. at 5.) Then, on August 30, 2011, NUWF filed the previously mentioned 

complaint seeking civil penalties, removal of the fill material, and restoral of Bowman’s 

wetlands. (R. at 5.) In September 2011, Bowman decided to sow his newly created field with 

winter wheat. (R. at 5.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 The present case involves an appeal from the United States District Court for the District 

of New Union’s grant of summary judgment. A grant of summary judgment is appropriate where 

there is no genuine issue of material fact; the movant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter 

of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 (c); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986).  Appellate 

courts review a grant of summary judgment de novo. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557 
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(1988). The facts and inferences made must be viewed “in the light most favorable to the party 

opposing the motion.” Adickes v. S. H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 158-159 (1970). Therefore, 

this Court should grant no deference to the lower court’s decision.  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The trial court erred in granting summary judgment as NUWF does have standing, the 

presence of dredged or fill material constitutes an ongoing violation of § 505 of the CWA, 

NUDEP’s actions do not constitute a diligent prosecution of § 505, and Bowman’s actions 

constitute a discharge of pollutants because they were an addition.  

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment as NUWF has standing to sue 

Bowman because several of its members have suffered  injuries-in fact that are traceable to his 

actions. In order to meet the test for standing as laid out by the Supreme Court in Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, the plaintiff must have suffered a concrete or imminent injury-in fact 

which is fairly traceable to the defendant’s actions and can be redressed by a favorable decision. 

The Court in Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services expanded the scope of 

injury-in fact to include damage to recreational or aesthetic interests.  

Several members of NUWF have testified as to harms they have suffered as result of 

Bowman’s illegal activities. Dottie Milford’s testified that the water looked more polluted after 

Bowman’s activities and Zeke Norton has testified that the frog population which he hunts has 

seriously declined after Bowman destroyed the nearly 1,000 acres of wetlands on his property. 

Each of these satisfies an injury-in fact. NUWF also meets the causation requirement for 

standing because the type of illegal activities Bowman engaged in are the type of activities which 

would contribute to the injury the plaintiffs allege. It can be reasonably believed that the clearing 

and draining of such a large area of wetland would reasonably contribute to the degradation of 
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the waterway near the area where the clearing and draining took place and population of wildlife 

in the area. The Court in Laidlaw also specifically states that civil penalties are sufficient for 

redressability for a violation of the CWA, which is what the plaintiffs are pursuing.   

The district court further erred by finding Bowman’s actions did not constitute a 

continuing violation. Bowman has done nothing to remediate the severe destruction that he 

caused his wetlands by leveling nearly 1000 acres, draining the area, and creating a winter wheat 

field. The dredged and fill material pollutants remain on his property, and as such, their 

continued presence constitutes a continuing violation under the Gwaltney of Smithfield Ltd. v. 

Chesapeake Bay rationale. Therefore, this Court should reverse the lower court’s decision and 

find that there is a continuing violation. 

The district court erred by finding that the consent decree and subsequent complaint filed 

between NUDEP and Bowman constituted a diligent prosecution, barring NUWF’s citizen suit. 

Under the plain language of the CWA, in order to bar a citizen suit, the state action must be 

commenced and diligently prosecuted to require compliance. The consent decree reached 

between NUDEP and Bowman does not abate the pollution still present in the wetland, nor does 

it assess any penalties for his actions, indicating a collusive relationship between NUDEP and 

Bowman. The statute allowed for citizen suits to continue when a government will not command 

compliance. Therefore, NUWF’s citizen suit is permitted to abate the pollution, and this Court 

should reverse the lower court’s decision and find that NUDEP’s actions were not a diligent 

prosecution. 

 The lower court erred finding Bowman’s actions were not an addition of pollutants. This 

Court should reverse and find that Bowman added pollutants to his wetlands without the proper 

CWA § 404 permit when he bulldozed, cleared, ditched, and drained his property because his 
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actions altered the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the land; therefore, finding his 

actions were an addition keeps with the statutory purpose of the CWA. 

Even if the term addition is subject to multiple interpretations, the Army Corps and the 

EPA hold that redeposit of dredged material is a discharge of pollutants, and their reasonable 

interpretation should be accorded deference. Thus, although the lower court found the material 

Bowman created was not dredged material, the material fits squarely within the regulatory 

definition, so the redeposit of the dredged material was an addition. Furthermore, Bowman’s 

egregious activities are tantamount to or even exceed the land clearing and redeposit activities 

that were found to be addition in U.S. v. Deaton and Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League v. Marsh; 

therefore, this Court should reverse the lower court’s decision and find that Bowman’s actions 

constituted an addition of pollutants without a § 404 permit, in violation of the CWA.  

ARGUMENT 

I. NUWF has standing to sue Bowman because several of its members have suffered  

injuries-in fact that are  traceable to his actions. 

 

In order to bring a suit under the CWA, a plaintiff must meet the standing requirement in 

Article III of the Constitution. (U.S. Const. art. III, § 2, cl. 1; 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)). The Supreme 

Court has spoken on the issue of the ability of an association to bring a suit on behalf of its 

members: this is possible when its members would otherwise be able to sue in their own right, 

the interests it seeks to protect are in line with the purpose of the organization, and when neither 

the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires individual participation of its members in the 

lawsuit. Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1997). NUWF’s purpose 

is “to protect the fish and wildlife of the state by protecting their habitats …” (R. at 4.) The 

NUWF’s organizational mission correlates directly with the interests its individual members are 

seeking to protect; in this case, the preservation of the Muddy River. 



 

8 

 

In Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, the Supreme Court laid out the basic test to satisfy the 

standing requirement of an environmental group to bring suit. 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). The 

plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in-fact” that is concrete and particularized and is actual or 

imminent. Id. The injury has to be “fairly traceable” to the challenged action of the defendant, 

and it must be likely that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. Id. 

The Supreme Court broadened the definition of “injury in-fact” in Friends of the Earth, 

Inc. v. Laidlaw Evntl. Servs., 528 U.S. 167 (2000). In Laidlaw, the Court states that a plaintiff 

has an adequate injury in-fact when they allege that they use a specific affected area and that the 

challenged activity will lessen the “recreational, aesthetic, and economic interests” of the area.” 

Id. at 182 (quoting Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735 (1972)). In order to avoid summary 

judgment, the plaintiffs must simply demonstrate that there are genuine issues of material fact 

and that a reasonable jury could find in favor of the plaintiff. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The 

Supreme Court has also stated that these injuries do not need to be large; an “identifiable trifle” 

will suffice. U. S. v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 

669, 689 n. 14 (1973). Taken together, these Supreme Court decisions create a low bar to allow 

environmental groups to bring suit. 

a. Dottie Milford’s testimony that the water looked more polluted after 

Bowman’s activities creates an injury in-fact. 

 

For an injury in-fact, a party only needs to demonstrate an invasion of a legally protected 

interest that is “concrete and particularized” in order to have standing. Lujan at 575. In Friends 

of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., from the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, 

the plaintiff Mr. Shealy had standing to sue a factory upstream from his lake for illegal 

discharges, even though there was no evidence that the discharges changed the chemical content, 

increased the salinity, or had any negative change in the ecosystem of the waterway. 204 F. 3d 
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149, 156. Because Shealy used the lake for recreational purposes and the lake is in the path of the 

alleged discharges, the court ruled that he had standing to bring suit. Aesthetic injuries to a 

waterway was also sufficient to give an environmental group standing to bring suit in the Third 

Circuit case Pub. Interest Research Grp. of New Jersey, Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Teminals, Inc. 

913 F.2d 64 (3d Cir. 1990). The plaintiffs, PRG, resided in the vicinity of the Kill Van Kull, a 

navigable body of water and submitted affidavits that they recreate on a park near the water. Id. 

at 71. PRG alleged that the defendant, PDT, had discharged illegally into the Kill Van Kull, 

causing the water to become more polluted which, in turn, led to aesthetic injury. Id. One affiant, 

Mr. MacNeil, testified that he was “particularly offended by the brown color” of the water. Id. 

The Supreme Court has plainly stated that harm to aesthetic and recreational interests is 

sufficient to confer standing. Sierra Club at 735; Middlesex Cnty. Sewage Auth. v. Nat’l Sea 

Clammers Ass’n, 453 U.S. 1, 16-17 (1981). From the testimony of the members of NUWF, they 

have established a harm to an aesthetic interest. The district court erroneously focused on the 

potentially illegal activities of Norton’s frogging, and simply dismisses his claim, assuming that 

he was trespassing on Bowman’s property. (R. at 6.) Regardless of whether Norton was 

trespassing or not, the fact that Bowman illegally destroyed the frog habitat on his property does 

impact the regional population of frogs, which in turn affects Norton’s ability to catch frogs in 

the general area. Further, the court should also have denied summary judgment due to Dottie’s 

testimony. In her affidavit, Dottie stated that the river “looks more polluted to her” since 

Bowman had engaged in illegal activities. (R. at 6.) As seen in Gaston Copper and Powell 

Duffryn Teminals, both a non-perceived threat to a waterway and a discoloration of a waterway, 

as result of an illegal activity, gave standing to an environmental organization to bring suit. 204 

F.2d at 156; 913 F.2d at 71. The present case is directly in line with these rationales, and even if 
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perceiving greater pollution in a waterway is a “trifle,” the Supreme Court in SCRAP held that a 

“trifle” is enough to identify an injury in-fact. 412 U.S. at 689. 

b. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment as NUWF meets the 

causation requirement for standing because the type of illegal activities 

Bowman engaged in are the type of activities which would contribute to the 

injury the plaintiffs allege. 

 

The second requirement for standing is that the injury in-fact be “fairly traceable” to the 

actions of the defendant. Lujan at 560-61. The “fairly traceable” requirement does not need to be 

so airtight and absolute as to be equivalent to the requirement or tort causation. Duke Power Co. 

v. Carolina Evntl. Study Grp., 438 U.S. 59, 78 (1978).  The Supreme Court in Duke also states 

that the plaintiffs need only show that there is a “substantial likelihood” that the defendant 

caused the plaintiff’s harm. Id. at 75, n. 20. The Supreme Court in Lujan stated that the issue in 

the causation inquiry is whether the alleged injury can be traced to the defendant’s conduct, and 

not the conduct of some other actor. See Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (quoting Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare 

Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976)). 

Several circuits take an even more lenient approach to establishing causation. The Third 

Circuit in Powell Duffryn Terminals states that the requirement that plaintiffs’ injuries be “fairly 

traceable” to the defendant’s conduct does not require a scientific certainty or even that the 

defendant’s actions alone caused the precise harm suffered by the plaintiffs. 913 F.2d at 72. 

Therefore, a “but-for” standard of causation is not required. In Gaston Copper, the Fourth Circuit 

held that to satisfy the traceability requirement, rather than pinpointing the exact molecules, a 

plaintiff must “‘merely show that a defendant discharges a pollutant that causes or contributes to 

the kind of injuries alleged’ in the specific geographic area.” Gaston Copper at 161 (quoting 

Nat’l Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. Watkins, 954 F.2d 974, 980 (4th Cir. 1992)). The Fourth Circuit 

in Gaston Copper further states that the “fairly traceable” requirement is met if the owner of the 
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polluting source has supplied no other alternative culprit for the injuries alleged by the plaintiffs. 

Id. The Ninth Circuit also follows the standard established in Powell Duffryn Terminals, stating 

that, for standing purposes, the causal connection put forward does not need to be so airtight as 

to demonstrate that the plaintiffs would succeed on the merits, but cannot also be pure 

speculation. Ecological Rights Found. v. Pac. Lumber Co., 230 F.3d 1141, 1152 (6th Cir. 2000). 

The type of illegal activities that Bowman was engaging in would easily contribute to the 

type of injuries the plaintiffs are alleging. He bulldozed his field, cleared the land several times, 

and created a wide ditch for it to drain into Muddy River. (R. at 4.) His destruction of the 

wetlands on his property and the subsequent channeling of all of his runoff into the Muddy River 

could cause the river to become “more polluted” as Dottie Milford testified. (R. at 6.) As cited 

above, the plaintiffs do not have to prove, beyond a doubt, that the polluting of the river resulted 

with certainty from Bowman’s illegal activities. 438 U.S. at 75, 78. They only have to show that 

the type of activities which he engaged in would reasonably contribute to the specific injuries 

suffered in a given area. Illegally clearing and draining a wetland would reasonably contribute to 

the pollution of a waterway near the area where the clearing and draining took place. Further, 

Bowman has supplied no other alternative source of this pollutant. As a result, NUWF has 

demonstrated causation, and this Court should reverse the lower court’s decision. 

c. The Supreme Court in Laidlaw has stated that civil penalties are sufficient 

redressability for a violation of the CWA. 

In Laidlaw, the Supreme Court specifically addresses the issue of redressability for 

citizens and environmental groups for violations under the CWA. 528 U.S. at 185, 706.  In the 

decision, the Court ruled that civil penalties are sufficient redressability. Id. Looking to the 

Congressional intent of the CWA, the Court stated that Congress found civil penalties not only 

promote immediate compliance, but also deter future illegal activities. Id. Concluding, the Court 
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reasons that civil penalties are sufficient redressability because of the deterrent effect that they 

have and their effect in abating current violations and preventing future ones. Id. at 187, 708. 

Similarly, the NUWF is seeking damages for the injury caused by Bowman. In obtaining 

a ruling against him and civil penalties, Bowman will be forced into compliance and deterred 

from future violations of the CWA. Because of this, the NUWF meets the third requirement of 

standing to bring suit. For the above reasons, the lower court’s decision should be reversed and 

this Court should find NUWF has standing to bring a citizen suit. 

II. The continued presence of dredged and fill material pollutants on Bowman’s land 

constitutes a continuing violation for the purposes of the CWA, satisfying the 

requirement for subject matter jurisdiction under § 505. 

Congress enacted the CWA to “restor[e] the chemical, physical, and biological integrity 

of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006). In order to achieve this objective, the CWA 

prohibits any discharge of pollutants into navigable waters unless it is in compliance with permit 

requirements. 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12) (2006). The term “pollutant” has been defined broadly to 

include “dredged spoil,. . . biological materials,. . . rock, sand, [and] cellar dirt.” 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(6) (2006). The CWA defines “navigable waters” as “the waters of the United States, 

including territorial seas.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7) (2006). Bowman concedes that the materials he 

used were pollutants and that his property was a wetland as contemplated by the CWA (R. at 4.) 

Section 301 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant except in compliance 

with law, namely one of the permitting requirements specified in the CWA. Section 404 provides 

the permit regime for the discharge of dredged or fill material pollutants into navigable waters. 

33 U.S.C. § 1344 (2006).  The Corps regulations define “dredged material” as “material that is 

excavated or dredged from waters of the United States,” and “fill material” as “any material used 

for the primary purpose of replacing an aquatic area with dry land or of changing the bottom 

elevation of any water body.” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c), (e) (2012). Consequently, the discharge of 
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dredged or fill material into a wetland without a permit violates the CWA. Borden Ranch P’ship 

v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 261 F.3d 810, 814-15 (9th Cir. 2001), aff’d, 537 U.S. 99, 123 

S.Ct. 599, 154 L.Ed.2d 508 (2002).  

Section 309(d) of the CWA states that defendants found to violate the Act “shall be 

subject to a civil penalty.” 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d) (2006). The CWA contains a citizen suit 

provision in § 505 authorizing a citizen to file a civil suit on his own behalf against an alleged 

violation. Subsection (a) of the citizen suit provision, titled “authorization; jurisdiction,” states 

that “[e]xcept as provided in (b) of this section and section 1319(g)(6) of this title,” any citizen 

may commence a civil action against any person who is alleged to be in violation of (1) an 

effluent standard or limitation; or (2) an order issued by the Administration or State with respect 

to a standard or limitation. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2006) (emphasis added).  In Gwaltney of 

Smithfield Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay, the Supreme Court established that a continuing violation of 

the CWA is required for subject-matter jurisdiction of the district court under the citizen suit 

provision. 484 U.S. 49 (1978).  

In this case, Bowman discharged dredged or fill material pollutants into a wetland 

without a permit, violating § 404 of the CWA, and has yet to remove the dredged or fill material 

pollutants from the wetland, constituting a continuing violation under Gwaltney. Therefore, this 

court should reverse the ruling of the lower court and find that there is a continuing violation of 

the CWA as required under § 505, and that the court has subject matter jurisdiction.  

a. The majority of courts have held that the continued presence of discharged 

dredged or fill material pollutants in a wetland constitutes a continuing 

violation. 

In Gwaltney, the Supreme Court interpreted the phrase “to be in violation” located in the 

citizen suit provision of § 505(a) of the CWA. The Court concluded that, “the most natural 
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reading” of the phrase is that it requires citizen-plaintiffs to “allege a state of either continuous or 

intermittent violation- that is, a reasonable likelihood that a past polluter will continue to pollute 

in the future.” 484 U.S. at 381. Pursuant to this interpretation, many courts have held that the 

discharge of dredged or fill material pollutants into a wetland, without a permit, constitutes a 

continuing violation of the CWA as long as the fill remains present. See Sasser v. Adm’r, U.S. 

E.P.A, 990 F.2d 127 (1993) (A continuing violation for the defendant’s discharge of dredged or 

fill material into wetlands was found because each day the pollutant remained in the wetland 

without a permit constituted an additional day of violation); see also U.S. v. Reaves, 923 F. Supp. 

1530, 1534 (M.D. Fla. 1996) (Finding an “unpermitted discharge of dredged or fill material into 

wetlands on the site is a continuing violation for as long as the fill remains.”); U.S. v. 

Cumberland Farms, 647 F. Supp. 1166, 1183-84 (D. Mass. 1986) (The court found that “[a] day 

of violation constitutes not only a day in which Cumberland was actually using a bulldozer or 

backhoe in the wetland area, but also every day Cumberland allowed illegal fill material to 

remain therein.”).  Courts have held that “violations are deemed continuing when the violator (1) 

illegally dumps fill material in[to] wetlands or other federal waters; and (2) is in a position to 

remove the pollutants but fails to do so.” Center for Biological Diversity v. Marina Point Dev. 

Assocs., 434 F. Supp. 2d 788, 798 (2006), rehearing reversed on other grounds.  

Allowing dredged or fill material pollutants, which have not been removed or remediated, 

to constitute a continuing violation is consistent with the purpose of the CWA. As stated in N. 

Carolina Wildlife Fed’n v. Woodbury, “it is not the physical act of discharging dredge wastes 

itself that leads to the injury giving rise to citizen suits, but the consequences of the discharge in 

terms of lasting environmental degradation.” 1989 WL 106517 (E.D.N.C., 1989).  In Woodbury, 

the court found there was subject matter jurisdiction for a citizen suit against a defendant who 
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allegedly discharged dredged or fill material into a wetland six years prior to the suit being filed. 

The Woodbury court found that the defendant’s “failure to remove the improperly discharged 

material constitute[d] a continuing violation.” Id. The court relied upon Justice Scalia’s statement 

in his concurrence opinion in Gwaltney: “When a company has violated an effluent standard or 

limitation, it remains, for purposes of § 505(a), “in violation” of that standard or limitation so 

long as it has not put in place remedial measures that clearly eliminate the cause of the 

violation.” Gwaltney at 387. 

The lower court found that “[t]he idea that a CWA violation continues unless and until it 

is undone is nonsense,” and that it “would render without meaning the jurisdictional requirement 

for a continuing violation, since all violations would be continuing.” (R. at 7.) However, this 

does not take into account the various types of effluent violations. For instance, “citizen suits for 

past discharges that are not susceptible to remedial efforts, due to effective natural dissipation or 

dispersion,” would be barred under Gwaltney. Woodbury, at *3. In contrast, citizen suits for past 

discharges in which the discharged material is still present and its effects are “amendable to 

correction” would constitute a continuing violation, until remedied, under Gwaltney. Id.  

The continued presence of the dredged or fill material pollutants on Bowman’s former 

wetlands is still capable of undergoing remediation as NUWF is seeking for Bowman to remove 

the dredged or fill material pollutants and restore the wetlands. Therefore, this Court should 

reverse the lower court’s decision and find that there is a continuing violation.  

b. Gwaltney is distinguishable from the instant case because the effluent 

discharges are distinct; therefore, the lower court’s conclusion was 

misguided.  

Bowman argues that the suit was properly dismissed because his land clearing activities 

ceased on July 15, 2011, and he has not continued land clearing activities since that time. (R. at 
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4.) The lower court incorrectly applied Gwaltney when it reached its conclusion that the violation 

was wholly past and that the court therefore lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case. 

The facts of Gwaltney are easily distinguishable from the present case, so the holding is 

inapplicable.  

In Gwaltney, the Court addressed a § 402 violation, which establishes the National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). 33 U.S.C. § 1342 (2006). Section 402 of the 

CWA provides a permit regime for discharge of pollutants into navigable waters from a point 

source. Id.  The Court found that the citizen suit was precluded because the company installed 

new equipment and improved its systems to a point where it no longer violated its limitations and 

did not show a likelihood of future violations. Gwaltney at 386.  The Court held that citizen suits 

brought under the CWA may only be brought to abate an ongoing violation, not wholly past 

violations, finding that “the most natural reading of ‘to be in violation’ is a requirement that 

citizen plaintiff allege a state of either continuous or intermittent violation.” Id. at 381.  

Unlike in Gwaltney, Bowman bulldozed nearly 1,000 acres of trees and vegetation in an 

area that both parties agree constitutes a wetland. (R. at 4.) He leveled the low-lying areas by 

pushing soil from high areas into trenches effectively creating a field suitable for sowing winter 

wheat. (R. at 4.) Finally, he created a long wide ditch to drain the field into the Muddy River. (R. 

at 4.) 

The distinction between a § 402 and § 404 violation is important because in a § 402 

permitted situation, the pollutants most likely dissipate, whereas the discharge of dredged or fill 

material pollutants into a wetland are more likely to settle and remain in place. See, e.g. 40 

C.F.R. § 232.2(c), (e) (2012) (the definition of fill material). In the instant case, the fill material 

is still present in those low lying areas, and the ditch now draining his property into the Muddy 
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River is still present. Therefore, the violation continues.  

 The NUWF is correct in believing that the continued presence of the dredged and fill 

material pollutants on Bowman’s property constituted a continuing violation, satisfying the 

requirements of § 505 of the CWA. This Court should find that the facts of Gwaltney do not 

apply to the instance case; therefore, the lower court’s decision should be reversed, and this 

Court should find a continuing violation. 

III. The consent decree does not satisfy diligent prosecution under § 505 (b) of the 

CWA. 

Under § 505 of the CWA, citizens are authorized to commence a civil action against a 

defendant who is alleged to be in violation of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2006). However, 

citizen suits are subject to two limitations. Id. at § 1365(b)(1)(A) (2006). First, the citizen must 

give notice of the alleged violation to the EPA, the alleged violator, and the state in which the 

violation occurred 60 days before commencing a suit. Id. Second, the CWA bars a citizen suit if 

the EPA or state “has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action in a 

court of the United States, or a State to require compliance with the standard, limitation, or 

order.” Id. at § 1365(b)(1)(B) (2006) (emphasis added).  

Under the plain language of the CWA, in order to bar a citizen suit, the government 

action must be commenced and be diligently prosecuted to require compliance. Id. at § 1365(b). 

However, despite the consent decree between Bowman and NUDEP, Bowman’s § 404 violations 

have continued. Moreover, the consent decree failed to implement any penalties upon Bowman, 

and the NUDEP’s suspiciously timed actions give rise to collusive behavior and do not constitute 

a diligent prosecution. Therefore, this court should reverse the lower court’s decision and find 

that NUDEP’s actions did not constitute diligent prosecution. 
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a. NUDEP’s failure to mitigate Bowman’s damage and continued failure to require 

Bowman to comply with the CWA is not diligent prosecution.  

The bar against a citizen suit requires the State to commence and diligently enforce its 

action. Id. at § 1365(b)(1)(B) (2006). A CWA enforcement is considered “diligent” if the judicial 

action “is capable of requiring compliance with the Act and is in good faith calculated to do so.” 

Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 760 (7th Cir. 

2004). The legislative history of the citizen suit provision in the Clean Air Act, the precursor to 

the CWA’s citizen suit provision, indicates that the main question in determining whether 

prosecution was diligent should be whether the government action is one capable of, and 

calculated to, require compliance. Jeffrey G. Miller, Theme and Variations in Statutory 

Preclusions against Successive Environmental Enforcement Actions by EPA and Citizens: Part 

Two: Statutory Preclusions on EPA Enforcement, 29 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 1, 63 (2005). 

Furthermore, a Senate Report contemplating the legislative history found that in order for there 

to be diligent prosecution “agencies must prosecute enforcement actions ‘in good faith and with 

deliberate speed . . . or the citizen is free to initiate his action.” Jeffrey G. Miller, Theme and 

Variations in Statutory Preclusions Against Successive Environmental Enforcement Actions by 

EPA and Citizens: Part One: Statutory Bars in Citizen Suit Provisions, 28 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 

401, 458-59 (2004) (citing S. REP. NO. 91-1196, at 65 (1970), reprinted in 1 CAA 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, at 401, 465 (1974)). Finally, the Supreme Court in Gwaltney 

specifically stated that the central purpose of the citizen suit provision is to “permit citizens to 

abate pollution when the government cannot or will not command compliance.” 484 U.S. at 62.  

In the present case, NUDEP has not and will not command Bowman to come into 

compliance with the CWA by restoring his wetlands and seeking a § 404 permit for his activities. 

Bowman’s land clearing activities occurred over a one month span from June 15, 2011 to July 
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15, 2011. (R. at 4.) On July 1, 2011, when Bowman was only half-way through his land clearing 

operations, NUWF sent a notice of an intent to commence an action against Bowman for his 

violations of the CWA to Bowman, the EPA, and to NUDEP. (R. at 4.) While NUDEP had been 

sent notice two weeks before completion, they failed to take actions until two weeks after 

Bowman had completed his activities. (R. at 4.) When NUDEP did take action, it only required 

Bowman enter into a settlement decree, which failed to require Bowman to come into 

compliance with the CWA. (R. at 4.) The NUDEP settlement only required Bowman to grant a 

conservation and public recreation easement covering about only two acres of the previous 1,000 

wooded acres, and for Bowman to construct and maintain a 75 foot buffer zone between his 

newly created field and what little remained of the woods. (R. at 4.) Ten days later, NUDEP 

subsequently filed a complaint against Bowman in federal court. NUDEP at this point had the 

chance to require compliance from Bowman, but failed to do so, and instead motioned to enter a 

decree that stipulates the exact same terms as the settlement agreement. (R. at 5.) (emphasis 

added).  

NUDEP’s actions were neither swift nor were they calculated to bring Bowman into 

compliance with the CWA. By waiting until two weeks after Bowman finished his actions, when 

they received notice of his actions two weeks before he finished, NUDEP failed to mitigate 

Bowman’s damage. NUDEP had ample time to stop half of Bowman’s actions and to begin 

salvaging operations for the completed damage, yet they chose to sit back and take no action.  

As the Seventh Circuit has held, “diligent prosecution analysis requires more than mere 

acceptance of the agency and violator statements.” 382 F.3d 743. In Friends of Milwaukee, the 

court, in determining whether the state of Wisconsin had diligently prosecuted the defendant, and 

thus precluding the citizen’s suit at hand, reviewed three stipulation agreements. The court found 
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that the first two of the stipulation agreements at issue in the case could not be considered 

diligent prosecution, since the first agreement “did not prevent [the] violations from occurring,” 

and the second “never resulted in any legally binding agreement to resolve the violations.” Id. at 

752-54. The court remanded the case to determine if the final stipulation agreement could be 

considered diligent prosecution. Id. at 765. The court instructed the fact finder to determine 

whether the final stipulation would sufficiently ameliorate the violations with “proposed 

remedial projects,” and if the court concluded that there was a realistic probability that the 

violations would continue after the proposals, then the citizen suit could proceed. Id.  

This Court should find that the NUDEP’s consent decree did not constitute diligent 

prosecution. First, the consent decree does not require Bowman to restore the wetlands and 

remove the dredged or fill material pollutants. Second, if NUDEP has decided to allow Bowman 

to keep the materials in place, the consent decree does not require Bowman to apply for an after-

the-fact §404 permit, putting him in compliance with the law. The consent decree in no way 

prevents the violations or resolves the violations as the majority of Bowman’s former wetlands 

will remain a dried up wheat field with dredged and fill material pollutants; therefore, this court 

should reverse the lower court’s decision and find that NUDEP is not diligently prosecuting 

Bowman. 

b. The totality of the circumstances surrounding NUDEP’s behavior, including the 

suspect timing of its actions and its failure to require civil penalties, shows 

NUDEP lacked good faith and was engaged in collusive behavior, not diligent 

prosecution.  

While the CWA provides for civil penalties for up to $125,000, when “a State has 

commenced and is diligently prosecuting an action under a state law comparable to” the CWA’s 

provisions, the civil penalties are barred. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d),(g)(6)(A) (2006). Since a state 

agency “must go to court to enforce either an administrative order or a judicial consent decree, 
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[the agency] gains no advantage by filing a judicial action instead of proceeding with the 

administrative action. Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., 890 F. Supp. 470, 478 

(D.S.C. 1995) aff’d 528 U.S. 167 (2000). 

In Laidlaw, the court found that the “suspect” totality of the circumstances surrounding 

the state agency’s actions towards a CWA violator amounted to a lack of diligent prosecution 

and a failure to bar a citizen suit on the matter. Id. at 489-90, 498. In arriving at their decision, 

the court first considered the fact that the agency filed on the last day possible to preclude the 

citizen’s suit and on the defendant’s request that the suit be filed. Id. at 489. Second, the court 

found the hasty settlement agreement precluded citizens from intervening, an essential aspect of 

the statutory regime for violations, thus calling for heightened scrutiny of the actions. Id. at 489-

90. Third, the court stated that the decree “did not provide that the court’s jurisdiction would 

continue in order to enforce the decree,” and the decree did not require the defendant to comply 

with its permit. Id. at 490. Finally, the court found the strongest argument and evidence for lack 

of diligent prosecution was that the agency failed “to recover, or even to determine, [the] 

violator’s economic benefit . . .” Id. at 497. The court stated that “[a] lenient penalty that is far 

less than the maximum penalty may provide non-diligent prosecution.” Id. at 491. (citing 

Atlantic States Legal Found. v. Universal Tool & Stamping Co., 735 F. Supp. 1404, 1416 (N.D. 

Ind. 1990)).  

NUDEP’s actions resemble the actions of the agency in Laidlaw. First, NUDEP waited 

41 days to initiate an action from the time that it was sent notice from NUWF of NUWF’s intent 

to sue. (R. at 4-5.) They waited over two-thirds of the allotted time they had to initiate a 

complaint. (R. at 4-5.) Second, it was only ten days after entering a consent decree with Bowman 

that NUDEP decided to file a complaint. (R. at 4-5.) The action seems to be entered only to bar 
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civil penalties and citizen action. Third, only 26 days after filing the initial complaint and only 

six days after NUWF filed its complaint, NUDEP hastily motioned to enter the exact same 

consent decree that they had entered into previously with Bowman. (R. at 5.) NUWF had little 

time to intervene in the action, which Laidlaw provides is an essential right in the CWA’s 

statutory regime. Finally, the consent decree neither allowed NUDEP to retain jurisdiction over 

enforcement of the matter, nor did it require any civil penalties, although up to $125,000 were 

authorized. (R. at 4.) Bowman would be able to retain all economic benefit that he presumably 

gained from his bulldozing and winter wheat operations; therefore, he would have no incentive 

to comply in the future and NUDEP would have no jurisdiction to enforce the decree. Taking 

into consideration a totality of all of the circumstances surrounding NUDEP’s actions, its actions 

lacked good faith and were collusive; therefore, this court should reverse the lower court’s 

decision and find NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman. 

c. While NUWF seeks to remedy Bowman’s harm, NUDEP does not, so there is no 

duplicative action and the statutory purpose of citizen suit bars is obviated.   

The focus of the statutory bar to a citizen suit is “whether [a] correction action already 

taken and diligently pursued by the government seeks to remedy the same violations as 

duplicative civilian actions.” N. and S. Rivers Watershed Ass’n, Inc. v. Town of Scituate, 949 

F.2d 552, 556 (1st Cir. 1991). This policy will not be interfered with in the instant case because 

NUWF’s citizen suit is attempting to do precisely what the CWA requires and what NUDEP has 

failed to do: remedy the violation. 

The First Circuit in Scituate found that a citizen suit was barred because the citizen suit 

was seeking some of the same remedies that the State was already diligently pursuing. Id. at 558. 

The violator of the Act was also already showing compliance with some of the State orders. Id. 

Therefore, allowing the duplicative citizen suit would only frustrate the State’s compliance 
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actions already under way. Id. at 556.  

Scituate is distinguishable from the present case because, unlike the state in Scituate 

whose corrective actions would ultimately lead to compliance with the CWA, NUDEP’s actions 

have only led to the state owning a new servitude and stopping Bowman from destroying the 

small remaining amount of wetlands on his land. NUDEP has done nothing to remedy the 

continuing § 404 violation that resulted from Bowman’s activities in July 2011. Further, unlike 

the violator in the Scituate case, Bowman has not done anything to remedy his actions or come 

into compliance with the CWA. Because NUDEP has not diligently prosecuted Bowman, this 

Court should reverse the lower court’s decision and allow the citizen suit to go forward. 

IV. Bowman’s bulldozing, burning, dredging, and filling of his wetlands without a § 

404 permit was a discharge of pollutants in violation of §§ 404 and 301(a) of the 

CWA. 

Under the CWA, pollutants shall not be discharged from point sources into the Nation’s 

navigable waters, unless special permitting authorization is granted. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), (d) 

(2006). One of these authorized permitting programs is under § 404 of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. 

1344. There are four requirements necessary to trigger the requirement of a § 404 permit: (1) a 

point source; (2) navigable waters of the nation; (3) the use of dredged or fill material pollutants; 

and (4) a discharge of pollutants. 33 C.F.R. § 323.1 (2012).  

Bowman concedes: (1) that his bulldozer was a point source; (2) that his wetlands are 

navigable waters; and (3) that the wooded material he bulldozed, burned, dredged and used for 

fill were either dredged or fill material pollutants. (R. at 8-9.)  Bowman only argues that he did 

not “discharge” pollutants into his wetland because moving the pollution he created from 

bulldozing and burning the woods on one part of his wetland and filling a different part of his 

wetland was not an “addition” of pollutants. (R. at 5.)  
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Contrary to Bowman’s argument, under the statutory intent of the CWA, the EPA and the 

Army Corps’ joint regulations, and various courts’ interpretations of addition, a redeposit of 

dredged or fill material is an addition of pollutants. See 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006); 33 C.F.R. § 

323.1(d)(1) (2012) (stating “the term discharge of dredged material means any addition of 

dredged material including redeposit . . . ”) (emphasis original); 40 C.F.R. § 232 (2012); see 

Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983) (finding an 

“‘addition’, as used in the definition of the term ‘discharge’ may reasonably be understood to 

include ‘redeposit.’”). Therefore, this Court should reverse the ruling of the lower court and hold 

that Bowman violated the CWA because he discharged dredged or fill material pollutants into 

the Nation’s waters without a § 404 permit. 

a. The bulldozing, burning, dredging, and filling of a wooded and vegetated 

wetland to create a wheat field is an addition of pollutants because the 

actions change the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the wetland. 

 

The primary purpose of the CWA “is to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006). In order to carry out this 

goal, the CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants into the Nation’s waters, except in special 

permitted situations. Id. § 1311(a), (d). The term “discharge” is broadly defined in the Act to 

include “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” Id. §§ 1362 

(12), (16). However, what constitutes an “addition” was not defined in the statute.  

Issues of statutory interpretation must be resolved by reading the word, not in isolation, 

but in the context of the statute as a whole. Robinson v. Shell Oil Co. 117 S.Ct. 843, 846 (1997).  

The ordinary definition of “addition,” should be given effect because it coincides with the 

reading of the statute and the over-arching statutory purpose of the CWA.  “Add” is defined to 

mean: “to join, annex, or unite (as one thing to another) so as to bring about an increase (as in 
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number, size or importance) . . .” Webster’s Third New International Dictionary, 24 (1986).  

 Bowman bulldozed all but approximately two acres of his once 1,000 acre lush wooded 

wetlands. (R. at 3-4.) Bowman pushed all of the trees and vegetation in the area into windrows 

and then burned the materials. (R. at 4.) Bowman then dug trenches and pushed the demolished 

trees and vegetative remains and ashes into them. (R. at 4.) Next, Bowman pushed the remains of 

the vegetation around the field that he had created from his bulldozing actions. (R. at 4.) He 

moved the remnants from high portions of the field to low portions of the field in order to create 

a level field. (R. at 4.) Finally, Bowman dug a trench from the back of the field all the way into 

the Muddy River in order to drain the field, plant, and sow winter wheat (R. at 4-5.)  

While nothing came from outside of the ecological system of the woods, the focus needs 

to be on the wetland grounds and “the waters of the United States” as they are what the CWA is 

set up to protect. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), (d) (2006). When Bowman bulldozed over the trees and 

vegetation, the mass and chemical composition of all that makes up trees and vegetation beyond 

their root system joined the wetland grounds so as to increase the wetland ground’s volume. 

Because there was an increase, there was an addition to the wetland waters and grounds.   

Therefore, the district court’s guidance and use of Nat’l Wildlife Federation v. Gorsuch, 

653 F.2d 156 (D.C. Cir. 1982), was misplaced. In Gorsuch, the court found no addition because 

nothing was added from the outside world when some polluted water from a water of the United 

States was then transferred into another water of the United States. Id. at 174-75. In Gorsuch, 

nothing was added to a water of the United States but additional water from a water of the United 

States. That is in contrast to this situation, where Bowman added all of the additional suspended 

mass of the trees and vegetation into a water of the United States.  

In further support of this interpretation of addition, finding Bowman’s action to be an 
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addition is in line with the over-arching statutory purpose of the CWA because his actions 

altered the “chemical, physical, and biological integrity” of the wetland. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) 

(2006). In Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League v. Marsh, the owners of thousands of acres of land in 

Louisiana used bulldozers to “cut the timber and vegetation at or just above ground level. [And,] 

[t]he trees were then raked into windrows, burned, and the stumps and ashes were diced into the 

ground by other machinery.” 715 F.2d at 901. Some leveling of the ground resulted, so a 

drainage ditch was also dug. Id. The court found there was “ample evidence in the record to 

support the district court’s conclusion that the landowners’ redepositing activities would 

significantly alter the character the wetlands and limit the vital ecological functions of the 

wetlands.” Id. at 923.  

Moreover, the EPA and the Army Corps find that “filling operations in wetlands, is 

considered to be among the most severe environmental impacts.” 40 C.F.R. § 230.1(d) (2012). 

Wetland trees and vegetation are made up of “plants that require saturated soils to survive . . .” 

Id. § 230.41(a)(3). Changing the wetland water flow patterns degrades water quality “by 

obstructing circulation patterns and velocities.” Id. at 230.41(b). This can interfere with filtration, 

recharge capability, and the aquatic value for fish and wildlife. Id. 

 Bowman’s activities were nearly identical to the activities in Avoyelles and would cause 

the unfortunate effects contemplated by the EPA and the Army Corps. Bowman bulldozed 

almost all of his 1000 acres of land leaving only approximately two acres of what was previously 

a habitat for many frogs. (R. at 3-4, 6.) He pushed the bulldozed and destroyed vegetation into 

windrows and burned the organic material. (R. at 4.) He pushed the materials around in order to 

create a field for winter wheat, and he dug a drainage ditch from the back of his property to the 

front in order to dry out the property. (R. at 4-5). As such, Bowman’s activities should constitute 



 

27 

 

an addition because the activities changed the chemical, physical and biological integrity of a 

water of the United States.  The lower court’s decision should be reversed because Bowman’s 

activities constitute an addition within the ordinary meaning of addition read in context with the 

entire CWA.  

b. The Army Corps and EPA agree that dredged material redeposit is an 

“addition” of pollutants, and Bowman’s actions created dredged material. 

 

As Congress did not define “addition” in the CWA, even if the term is subject to multiple 

interpretations, the reasonable interpretation by the agencies’ charged with administering the 

statute should be accorded considerable deference. Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. 

Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984). Since 1977, the Army Corps and the EPA have jointly 

held the position that the discharge of dredged material includes “any addition, including any 

redeposit, of dredged material . . .” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1) (2012); 40 C.F.R. Part 232.2 

(emphasis added); See also Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U. S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 145 F.3d 1339, 

1402 (D.C. Cir. 1998). While the rule has in the past been challenged for impermissibly 

regulating de minimis incidental fallback or sidecasting, the current version of the rule now 

expressly excludes de minimis actions of incidental fallback, and Bowman’s actions constituted 

much more than a mere incidental fallback. Nat’l Mining Ass’n, 145 F. 3d at 1401-02; 33 C.F.R. 

§ 323.2(d)(1) (2012); 40 C.F.R. Part 232.2. Therefore, this Court should defer to the agencies’ 

interpretation of “addition” and find that Bowman’s redeposit of materials on his land constitutes 

the discharge of dredged material. 

In 2008, what has become known as the “Tulloch Rule” was revised and re-issued 

declaring the prior 1999 rule reinstated. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1) (2012); 40 C.F.R. 232.2. The 

1999, and thus the 2008, rule give an illustrative list of examples of the discharge of dredged, 

which includes 
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any addition, including redeposit other than incidental fallback, of dredged 

material, including excavated material . . . which is incidental to any activity, 

including mechanized land clearing, ditching, channelization, or other excavation. 

 

Id (emphasis added).  The rule states that activities that “involve only the cutting or removing of 

vegetation above ground . . . where the activity neither substantially disturbs the root system nor 

involves mechanized pushing . . .” would not qualify as discharge of dredged material.   

The district court found that Bowman’s activities did not create dredged material; 

Bowman, however, used machinery, a bulldozer, to clear his woods and other vegetation and 

created a “wide ditch” to drain the cleared land into the Muddy River. (R. at 4, 8.) Bowman’s 

actions involved “mechanized pushing” of the trees and vegetation from his bulldozer. (R. at 4, 

8.) He affected the root system of the trees and vegetation, as his actions created a leveled field. 

(R. at 5.) Bowman’s activities, therefore, did create dredged material. 

Further, Bowman’s actions did not result in mere “incidental fallback.” Incidental 

fallback occurs when in dredging operations material is picked up and a some of the material 

falls back nearly to the same place from which it came. Am. Mining Cong.v. U.S. Army Corps. Of 

Eng’rs, 120 F. Supp. 2d 23, 30 (D.D.C. 2000)  In determining whether something is incidental 

fallback, the time the material is held before being dropped down and the distance between 

where the material comes from and where it is placed must be evaluated. 145 F. 3d at 1410. In 

distinguishing the difference between incidental fallback versus an addition of dredged material, 

Judge Silberman’s concurrence in Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U.S. Army Corps finds that: 

[T]he word addition carries both a temporal and geographic ambiguity. If the 

material that would otherwise fall back were moved some distance away and then 

dropped, it very well might constitute an ‘addition.’ Or if it were held from some 

time and then dropped back in the same spot, it might also constitute an 

‘addition.’  

 

Id. 
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Bowman’s property was 1,000 acres of wetlands and when his land clearing operations 

were complete, he left only a 150 feet wide strip adjacent to the Muddy River. (R. at 3-4). 

Bowman’s property borders 650 feet of the Muddy River, so when his land clearing operations 

were complete, only a mere approximately two acres of the original 1,000 were left. (R. at 3.) 

Thus, in order to commence and complete land clearing and leveling operations on almost 998 

acres of land, Bowman had to have moved massive amounts of materials for a substantial 

distance throughout his property. Further, Bowman dredged a “wide ditch” from the field to the 

Muddy River; therefore, at the very minimum of his activities, he would have moved material at 

least 150 feet to connect the field through the strip of woods that remained to the Muddy River. 

(R. at 4.) Finally, Bowman’s activities took an entire month to complete from June 15, 2011, to 

July 15, 2011, no small amount of time. (R. at 4-5.) Because Bowman moved the dredged 

pollutants for substantial distances and substantial amounts of time, his actions were not 

incidental fallback.  

As Bowman’s actions fit the definition of a “discharge of dredged material” and cannot 

possibly be seen to constitute mere “incidental fallback,” this court should overturn the lower 

court’s decision as Bowman violated the CWA by adding discharge of dredged materials to his 

wetlands without a § 404 permit.  

c. The case law uniformly supports finding that Bowman’s bulldozing, land 

clearing, ditching, and field creating activities were well within the ambit of 

regulated activities under the CWA.  

 

 While courts have struggled with determining whether activities such as “incidental 

fallback” or “sidecasting” reach the status of additions of pollutions, Bowman’s activities went 

well beyond the threshold necessary for regulation of these activities as additions.  

 In U.S. v. Deaton, the Deatons had a contractor dig a 1,240 foot ditch across their wetland 
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property in order to improve its drainage. 209 F.3d 331, 333 (4th Cir. 2000). Ignoring a district 

conservationist’s opinion, the Deatons had the contractor commence the drainage activities 

before obtaining a CWA permit. Id. “Using a back hoe, a front-end track loader, and a bulldozer, 

the contractor dug” the ditch. Id. Rather than removing the dirt excavated from the property, he 

“piled the excavated dirt on either side of the ditch, [in] a practice known as sidecasting.” Id. The 

court held the Deatons in violation of the CWA, finding “the [CWA’s] definition of discharge as 

“any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters’ encompasses sidecasting in a wetland” Id. at 

337.  

 Under the Deaton precedent, Bowman added pollutants to his wetlands. Bowman not 

only dug at least a 150 foot ditch, he leveled hundreds of acres of woods, and he redistributed all 

of the materials to level the area and create a winter wheat field. (R. at 3-4.) Bowman’s activities 

went well beyond the Deatons’ sidecasting; therefore, since the Deatons’ actions were a violation 

of the CWA, this Court should find that Bowman’s actions are a violation of the CWA. 

As mentioned previously, in Avoyelles, the activities were nearly identical to the present 

case. Avoyelles held that the activities conducted constituted an unlawful discharge under the 

CWA.  Id. at 923-24. The court stated that “[t]he word ‘addition,’ as used in the definition of the 

term ‘discharge,’ may reasonably be understood to include ‘redeposit.’” Id. at 924. The court 

reasoned that this interpretation was consistent with the purpose and legislative history of the 

CWA, and found “that the landowners’ redepositing activities would significantly alter the 

character of the wetlands and limit the vital ecological functions served by the tract.” Id. at 923. 

As Bowman’s activities were nearly identical to the activities found to be redeposit in Avoyelles, 

this court should reverse the lower court’s decision and find Bowman violated the CWA by 

adding pollutants to his wetlands. 
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CONCLUSION 

 NUWF has standing as its members have suffered injuries-in fact due to Bowman’s 

illegal activities. The continued presence of the dredged and fill material pollutants on 

Bowman’s property constitutes an ongoing violation. Moreover, NUWF’s citizen suit is not 

barred because NUDEP has not diligently prosecuted Bowman, and Bowman’s actions were a 

violation of the CWA as his actions constituted an addition of pollution without a CWA permit.  

 For the foregoing reasons, NUWF respectfully asks this Court to reverse the lower 

court’s decision, and find that, NUWF had standing, there is an ongoing violation, NUDEP has 

not diligently prosecuted Bowman, and Bowman’s actions constituted and addition of pollutants.  

 

        Respectfully submitted, 

              

       Counsel for New Union Wildlife Federation 

 

 


